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SUMMARY

From August 10 October 2001, Oxford Archaeology (OA) carried oui an archacological
walching brief ai Cornmarkei Smreel, Oxford, Oxfordshire (NGR SP 31 26 06039). The work
vwas commissioned by Oxford County Council in advance of the inswliation of a service
rench along the length of read. The waiching brief revealed thar Cornmarket Street had
been extensively truncated by modern services and phases of road resurfacing. However, the
base of the city's medieval North Gate and part of the medieval iown ditch were revealed.

1 INTRODUCTION

1.1 Location and scope of work

1.1.1  From August to October 2001 Oxford Archaeology (OA) carried out an
archacological watching brief at Cornmarket Street, Oxford, Oxfordshire (Fig. 1).
The work was commissioned by Oxford County Council in respect of planned
excavations for a new service trench along length of road.

112 A project brief was set after discussions between OA, Brian Durham, the City
archaeologist, Planning Control and Conservation, and Peter Evans of Oxfordshire
County Council.

1.1.3  OA prepared a Written Scheme of Investigation detailing how it would meet the
requirements of the brief.

1.2 Geology and topography

121  The site lies on terraced river gravels at 64 m OD. The site is situated on the north-
south axis of Cornmarket Street within the historic core of Oxford.

13 Archaeological and historical background

13.1  The archaeological background to the watching brief was prepared for the WSI for the
project (OA, 2001) and is reproduced below.

The Northgale

132  Cornmarket Street was a major north-south route, linking the Midlands to the
Channel ports by the time Oxford was founded in the late Oth century. A gate existed
on this site from that time, at first built of wood. Later, as the defences themseives
were reconstructed in stone, so too was the gate. Its physical form is known from
posi-medieval maps (Agas 1575, Loggan 1675) which shows two rounded towers
projecting north from a two storey gatehouse. This extended back aiongside the
church tower. The gateway and the gatehouse were demolished in 1771-2, and the
road widened, suggesting that any remaining part of the structure could lie beneath
the present street surface.
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St Mardn s Churedi

The 14l century rebuilding of St Marun's Church effectively narrawed the south
end of Commarikel and the east end of Queen Street, I 1520 the chureh was
demolished. witl the excepuon of the tower, and rebuill again, sutl wking up much
the same space (VCH iv. 3803 The comner was cleared completely by the demoliition
of the church, and the south end of Cornmarker strarghiened ot 10 115 presen
alignment as part of the Carfax Improvement Scheme of 1896 (VCH v, 203).

PROJECT AIMS AND METHODOLOGY

21 Aims

211 Toidemify and record the presence absence, extent, condition, qualiny and dae of
archaco}og]ceﬂ remains n the areas affected by the development

212 Tomake available the resulis of the archaeclogical investigation.

2.2 Methodology

227 Thewench was excavated by mechanical excavator under archacological supervision
and the new services were laid in the trench, which was then bacldilled and the road
resurfaced, This operation was carried out 1t a number of sections along the stree
{Fig. 2).

222 All archasological features were planned at a scale of 1:100 and where excavated
their sections drawn al scales of 120, All excavated features were photographed
using colour stide and black and white print film. A general photographic record of
the work was made. Recording followed procedures detailed in the 04 Fieldwork
Manual (ed. D Wilkinson, 1992).

3 RESULTS

3.1  Description of deposits

3.1.1  The trench ranged from 0.7 m to 1.1 m in width, with larger holes being excavated
for manholes. The trench was excavated to a maximum depth of 2.5 m and exposed a
number of archacological layers and features (Figs 3 and 4).

3.1.2  The trench cut through the present day road surface (11} and road make up (10). It
also exposed a number of modern service trenches (8) cutting along and across the
trench. These deposits were identified where the trench was excavated at the junction
of St. Michael’s Street and Ship Street and headed north towards Magdelen Street.

The medieval city ditch

313  Alarge ditch (2) aligned east-west was recorded at the north end of the new service
trench h(, arca between the junction of St. Michael’s Street and Ship Street (Fig. 3
and Fig. 3, sections 1, 2 and 3).
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to modern disturbances at that level, and only 3 m of it’s width was exposedtoa
depth of 0.7 n the base of the feature was not reached. At the base of the edge of the
feature which cut the natural gravel (1) was an orange-brown silty gravel slumyp (3)
from the side of the ditch. This was overlain by & deposit of dark grey-blue silty clay
(4), which was in turn overlain by a further grey-blue clay laver (3).

The north edge of the ditch was defined (section 1}, the southern edge being lost due

a2

1.5 A similar sequence of deposits was noted in section 2 (Fig. 5) just south of section 1.
Gravelly deposit (14) was sealed by clay (13) and in turn overlain by a further and
orange-brown clay layer (12).

3.1.6  Section 3, south again of section 2 revealed at the base of the trench two layers of
grey-black silt (21 beneath 20), which were overlain by a series of a nmumber of
tayers of ground make up (19 beneath 18, then layer 17 beneath 16) that appeared to
have been laid across the last fills of the ditch.

17 A former cobbled road surface (6) was identified scaling layer 5 (Fig. 3, section 1)
but could not be traced further to the south (Fig. 5, sections 2 and 3). Here the ditch
fills (12 and 16) were overlain by a compact gravel surface (7) also seen overlying
the cobbling to the north, Layer 7 was truncated by a modern cut for services (8 filled
by 9), the upper sequence in the trench therefore comprised entirely modern material.

|5}

West side of the medieval city North Gale

3.1.8  Further south along the new service trench and directly opposite 5t Michael's Tower,
the foundations of the west side of the city’s medieval North Gate was exposed in
section. The masonry consisted of a single course of ashlar cotswold stone (28)
seated on a foundation (27) of ragstone laid in rough courses and of drystone
construction. The structures had been built in a foundation trench (26) with vertical
sides and flat base. The trench was 0.92 m wide and 1.04 m deep. This had cut
through a series of undated ground make up layers (19, 29 & 30) of orange brown
silty gravel (Figs 3 & 6, section 4).

Other features

2.1.9  Where Market Street joins Cornmarket Street, the remains of a small pit were partly
exposed cutting into the natural. The pit had been heavily truncated by modem
services. Tt contained a number of fills of dark brown and reddish brown silt (22, 23
& 24) and was probably post-medieval or of modern date (Fig. 6, section 6),

31.10 The remainder of the trench exposed a number of layers of ground make up and road
Jevelling, which had been cut numerous times by services dating {rom the late 15th
century onwards (Fig. 6, section 5).

3.2 Finds
32.1  No finds were recovered from the walching brief.

13 Palaco-environmen(al remains
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Two (monoliths 2 & 23 samples were 1aken from the medieval diel: Hll context 20,

These were not processed as it was el that the sampies could have suffered from

later contamination from eround works over the site of the dich.

4 THSCUSSION AND CONCLUSIONE

41.2

The resulis from the waiching brief showed that most of Cormmarket Street has been
heaviiv runcaied and disturbed by services and road repas. However, atwo

important archaeological features were identified.

The most significam find was the discovery of a stone structure just 0.3 m below
current sireet leve! that has been imerpreted as part of the medieval citv’s north gate
or gatchouse. The structure was Jocated directly opposite St Michael's Church and
corresponds with the suggested location of the medieval town’s northern defences
and conjectured lavout of the nortl entrance 10 Oxford (afier Durham, Halpin and

Palmer, 1984, 13-40).

Discussions with the city archagologist during the progress of the works led o the
conclusion that the stonework most likely represented the west foundation of the
gatchouse, or gate, that was conjectured from excavations in 1972 10 Jie opposite St
Michael's Church Tower (ibidd. 34.). The gatehouse was demolished and Jevelied o

€
widen the widih of Cornmarket Sueet in 1771,

Towards the north end of Cornmarket Street, the north edge of the medieval city
ditch was revealed in section. Iis full widthy was not determined within the present
service trench due to disturbance from a number of modern services. However, the
southern edge of the feature was idemtified during excavations at 5t. Michael’s
Church in 1972 (ibid. 16), and the width of the feature where it passes the north gate
of the city appears to be ¢. 13 m based on the approximate alignment of the feature in
the Churchyard. No finds were recovered from the ditch fills to aid dating of the
feature filis.

The only other feature of note was a possible post-medieval pit (25} that was
otherwise un-noteworthy and contained no finds.

i Oxford Archacological Unit Lid. August 2002
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APPENDIX 1

APPENDICES

ARCHAEOLOGICAL CONTEXNT INVENTORY

Context | Type Deprh Width Length Comnients Finds
1 Laver } Natural gravel

2 Cut 0.9m -+ 2.5m Ditch

3 Fill Fill of ditch2

4 Fill Fill of ditch 2

5 Fill Fill of ditch 2

6 Layer 0.10 1 Cobbiled surface

7 Layer 0.18m Gravel surfaces
8 Cut Modern service trench
9 Fill Fill of trench 8

10 Layer Modem Hardcore layer
1 Layer Present street mmake up
12 Fil Fill of ditch 2

13 Fill Fill of ditch 2

14 Fill Fitl of ditch 2

15 Structure Modern concrete featnre
16 Layer 0.18m Made up surface/ground
17 Layer 0.14 m Made up ground

18 Layer 0.06m Surface

19 Layer 0.121m Surface

20 Fill .06 m Fill of ditch 2

21 Fill 0.13m Fill of ditch 2

22 Fiil pit fiil

23 Fill pit fill

24 Fili Fill of pit

25 Cut Pit

26 Cut 1.04m | 0.92m Foundation trench

27 Fill Foundation

28 Structure Footing of north gate
29 Layer Made ground

30 Layer Made ground

& Oxlord Archacological Unit Liud, August 2002
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APPENDIN 2 BISLIOGRAPHY AND REVTERENCLS

Hassall 7. G 1071 Pyveavalions at 44-46 Cormmarker Swreer 1974,
Oxoniensio xxxovi 15233
Sturdy I & Munby 11983 Farlv Domeste Sites in Oxford: Excavatons in

Cornmarke: and Oueen Street, 1939-62, Oxoniensia 1 45-94
OA, 2001 Cornmarker Srreel, Oxford Written Scheme of Investigation

APPENDIN 3 SUMMARY OF SITE DETAILS

Site pame: Comnmarker Street. Oxlord.

Site code: ONCMK 02

Grid reference: NGR SP 51206 0639

Type of watching brief: Service wrench along north south axis of Cornmarket Streel.

Date and duration of project: A lowal of nine site visits were made from 17082001 10
3110/2001

Area of site: - 1 m wide trench

Summary of results: The watching brief showed that Corpmarket Sureet had been
extensively been wuncated by modern services and road building. but the base of the city's
medieval north gate and the north edge of the medieval city ditch were exposed.

Location of archive: The archive is currently held at OA, Janus House, Gsnev Mead,
Oxford, OX2 0FS, and will be deposited with Oxfordshire County Museums Service in due
course, under the following accession number: 2001.116

€ Oxford Archacological Unit Lid, August 2002 Qv mumfordi QA UWDREPORTS:Oxford CisiONCMK doe
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Figure 1: Site location.
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